1952

# Ogden City v. Clyde C. Patterson : Brief of Appellant Ogden City

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

This action was brought by the Appellant Ogden City seeking a declaratory judgment declaring, first, that no office for a second judge of the Ogden City Court and ex-officio justice of the peace presently exists under Chapter 26, Laws of Utah, 1951, and, second, that even if such office exists the defendant is not legally elected thereto and entitled to hold the office and receive the emoluments.

Appellant appeals from an adverse judgment on both issues.

There is, we believe, no dispute on the facts. They are set out in the Findings of Fact as amended. (R 013 to 021).

The defendant is an attorney possessing all qualifications to entitle him to aspire to office as a judge of the City Court of Ogden City. (R 013.)

The population of Ogden City as determined by the official United States Census for 1940 was, at the date of that census, 43,688. (R 014.)

On April 2, 1950, the U. S. Bureau of the Census, pursuant to Federal law to take the 1950 census, including an official census of Ogden City. In accord with Federal law the returns reflecting the count of the population of Ogden City were forwarded to the District Supervisor, and the enumeration was in due course forwarded to the Director of the Census at Washington. (R 014.)

Under Federal law the enumeration was taken as of April 1st, and returns sent to the supervisor within 30 days of April 2nd. (13 U. S. C. A. 206). The tabulation of total population by states was required to be completed by December 2, 1950. (13 U. S. C. A. 202).

On or about June 14, 1950, the District Supervisor of the Census at Ogden by letter addressed to the Mayor of Ogden, in form illustrated by Exhibit C, advised the Mayor that a preliminary count showed Ogden's population as of April 1, 1950, at 56,908. (R 030-031.)

On August 25, 1950, the Director of the Census, pursuant to the provisions of 13 U. S. C. A. 4 and 213, issued a preliminary bulletin and report announcing, subject to later revision, the result of a preliminary count of the Census returns of the population of Ogden

and other places in Utah. That bulletin stated that the population of Ogden on April 1, 1950, was 56,910. (R 014, Exhibit B.)

On March 8, 1951, the Legislature passed the Bill appearing as Chapter 26, Laws of Utah, 1951, which became effective May 8, 1951. By Section 104-4-2 of the Judicial Code, as amended by that law, it is provided that at the 1951 Municipal Election and thereafter city judges shall be elected as follows: "In cities having a population, as determined by the next official census and each official census thereafter of 50,000 and less than 100,000 there shall be two city judges;" in cities with a larger population 3 or 4 judges; "and in other cities having a city court there shall be one city judge.."

Ogden, of course, then had one city judge. (Section 20-4-2, U. C. A. 1943, as amended by Chapter 35, Session Laws of Utah, 1943.)

Then, on June 17, 1951, the Director of the Census issued his final bulletin and report on the population of Ogden on April 1, 1950. By that report the population was shown to be 57,112. (R 014, Exhibit B.)

On July 31, 1951, the defendant filed with the Ogden City Recorder a declaration of his candidacy for the office of Judge of the Ogden City Court "created by Chapter 26, Laws of Utah, 1951," supported by the required petition of one hundred voters. (R 002, paragraph 7; \*\*6; 010, paragraph 6; 014-5.)

At about the same time several other judicial candidates filed for the office of City Judge then held by the incumbent. This office the Recorder designated as Judge

of the First Division; the office sought by defendant was designated as Judge of the Second Division of the City Court. (R 015.)

On August 7, 1951, no other candidate for Judge of the Second Division having filed within the statutory time limit, the defendant, pursuant to Section 1 of the Judicial Code as enacted by Chapter 26, Laws of 1951, demanded and received of the City Recorder a certificate of election to the office of Judge of the Second Division. (R 015; 003, paragraph 10; 008; 010, paragraph 6.)

The Municipal Election was held on November 6, 1951, but at that election the only judicial selection ballot submitted to the electors was the ballot for election of a judge to Department No. 1 of the City Court. No ballot for election of a judge of Division No. 2 was ever submitted to the electors, and defendant's name was never submitted to the voters at any election or on any ballot. (R 019-20; 015-16.)

On December 4, 1951, the Council of Ogden City, feeling that there was no need for a second judge, as the court seemed able to keep its work current with one judge, took the position that they would, as an economy measure, refuse to create the second job if that was legally possible (R 025-6, Exhibit A), and directed a letter to defendant inviting him to present his point of view. (Ibid.)

On December 27th, after hearing Mr. Patterson, the Council defeated a motion to strike the salary of

the second judge from the proposed budget, but unanimously passed a motion directing the institution of this action for a declaratory judgment to settle the legal problems involved. (Ibid.)

On December 31, 1951, the Council adopted the proposed budget, which included an item of \$5,000.00 as salary for the second judge. (R 028-9.) On the same day the defendant presented to the Recorder his oath as judge of the disputed Division No. Two, and the Recorder accepted and filled it. (R 029.)

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

1. By the terms of Section 104-4-2 of the Judicial Code, as amended, there is no presently existing office of city judge or ex-officio justice of the peace of Department No. Two of the Ogden City Court.

2. Even if such office exists, the defendant is not legally elected or appointed to such office and has no right thereto.

A. A judge of the city court is ex-officio a precinct justice of the peace and no one may hold such office except by election on secret ballot by the electors of the city.

(1) The office of justice of the peace is an elective constitutional office under Constitution of Utah, Article VIII, Sections 1 and 8.

(2) Under Constitution of Utah, Article IV, Sections 2 and 8, the provision for election without secret ballot by the city electors is unconstitutional and void.



- B. The office of judge of a city court is an elective office and the defendant, not having been elected thereto by secret ballot of the electors, has no valid claim to such office.
- C. Defendant has no valid claim to the office of judge of the city court as by an appointment.
- (1) The filing of an unopposed declaration and petition for candidacy for such office cannot be deemed a valid appointment thereto, as new Section 1 of the Judicial Code as enacted by Section 2, Chapter 26, Laws of Utah, 1951, is void for violation of the Constitution of Utah, Article V, Section 1, and Article VI, Section 29.
- (2) Such office can be filled in the first instance only by appointment by the Mayor with the consent of the City Council, and defendant holds no such appointment.

## ARGUMENT

POINT 1. *By the terms of Section 104-4-2 of the Judicial Code, as amended, there is no presently existing office of city judge or ex-officio justice of the peace of Department No. Two of the Ogden City Court.*

Whether or not the office claimed by defendant has legal existence depends upon the interpretation of the language the Legislature used in Section 104-4-2 of the Judicial Code, as amended. The key phrase, as appellant sees it, is the following:

*“In cities having a population, as determined by the next official census and each official census thereafter of 50,000 and less than 100,000 there*

shall be two city judges; . . . and in other cities having a city court there shall be one city judge.” (Italics added.)

It is submitted that under this provision Ogden City has only one city judge until it appears by an official census taken *subsequent* to May 8, 1951, (the effective date of the Act) that Ogden City has a population between 50,000 and 100,000. It is not enough that by an official census taken *prior* to May 8, 1951, the city had a population in excess of 50,000.

In the interpretation of this statute it must be considered that there are at most only three possible meanings of the phrase “population as determined by . . . . census.” They are:

1. The actual number of people living in the city;
2. The actual number of people listed on the enumeration sheets of the census; and
3. The official announcement by an officer or employee of the Census Bureau of the count of the number of names listed on the census sheets.

It is very apparent that the Legislature was not referring to the actual population, first, because such an interpretation would make the reference to the official census meaningless, and, second, because as a practical matter determination of actual population is an almost impossible task.

It is the city’s position that the second alternative, namely, the number of people listed on the census enu-



meration sheets is the correct one and it is submitted that this position is supported by reason and the cases hereinafter referred to.

In the court below the respondent chose the third alternative. However, it is submitted that this alternative does violence to the language used by the Legislature and adherence to that alternative would amount to judicial legislation.

It is, of course, fundamental that in construing a statute an attempt must be made to arrive at the intention of the Legislature. That intention is to be derived from the words and language used in the light of the surrounding circumstances. The general rule is that the words used by the Legislature must be interpreted in their ordinary acceptation and significance and the meaning commonly attributed to them.

50 Am. Jur. "Statutes"

Section 28, Note 17, Page 228;

Emmertson vs. State Tax Commission

93 Utah 219; 72 Pac. 2nd 467;

113 A. L. R. 1174;

Nephi Plaster and Manufacturing

Company vs. Juab County

33 Utah 114; 93 Pac. 53;

14 A. L. R. (NS) 1043.

Also, "words in common use are to be given their natural, plain, ordinary and commonly understood meaning."

59 C. J. 975, Note 20;

In re, Thompson's Estate

72 Utah 17; 269 Pac. 103;

State vs. Hendrickson  
57 Utah 15; 245 Pac. 375;  
57 A. L. R. 786;

Cache Auto Company vs.  
Central Garage  
63 Utah 10; 221 Pac. 862;  
30 A. L. R. 1217.

The Legislature also has spoken on this subject:

“Words and phrases are to be construed according to the context and the *approved usage of the language* . . . .”

Section 88-2-11, Utah Code Annotated, 1943.  
(Italics added).

What then is the meaning of the keys words used by the Legislature? Let us consider each of them in its natural, plain ordinary and commonly understood meaning.

First, what is a census?

The Federal Census is taken pursuant to the requirements of the Constitution of the United States. Article I, Section 2 provides that representatives and direct taxes shall be apportioned among the several states according to their respective “numbers” and that “The actual enumeration shall be made within three years after the first meeting of the Congress of the United States” and every ten years thereafter. Article I, Section 9 of the Federal Constitution provides that no direct tax shall be laid “unless in proportion to the census or enumeration hereinbefore directed to be taken.” There

is no other reference to the census and the Federal laws do not define a census. Apparently the drafters of the Constitution used the word census as the equivalent of the word enumeration.

Webster's New International Dictionary, Unabridged, Second Edition, defines a census as:

“An official enumeration of the population of a country or a city or other administrative district, generally with classified information relating to social and economic conditions.”

The same work defines “enumeration”, in the sense in which it is obviously used in the above definition, as

“An itemized list or catalog; a census.”

The California Court in

City of Compton vs. Adams  
203 Pac. 2nd 745, 746,

says that:

“A census is an official enumeration of the population of . . . . . a city.”

Again in the case of

Holcomb vs. Spike  
232 S. W. 891,

decided by the Texas Court of Civil Appeals in 1921, it is said:

“A census must be an official enumeration of the people, and as such a public record containing not merely a sum total, *but an official list of the names of all inhabitants.* . . .”

And again in the case of

State vs. Wooten  
122 S. W. 1101, 1103,

it is said that:

“A census of a city is an official enumeration of the inhabitants with details of sex, age and family. It is a public document to be preserved in the archives of the city, *rather than a mere sum total of the inhabitants.*” (Emphasis added).

And in an Indiana case,

City of Huntington vs. Cast  
48 N. E. 1045,

it is said:

“A census is not merely a sum total, but an *official list* containing the names of all the inhabitants.”

Again in

Lewis vs. Lackawanna County  
17 Pa. Super. Ct. 25,  
affirmed in 50 Atl. 162,

the court said:

“The census is the enumeration of the population, *not the announcement of the result.*”

This definition was quoted with approval by the Tennessee Supreme Court in the case of

Underwood vs. Hickman  
39 S. W. 2nd 1034.

It seems clear from a reading of the Federal Statutes relating to the census that the Congress used the

term to refer to the enumeration and not to the bulletins announcing the results of the statistical survey of the enumeration. See for example,

13 U. S. C. A., Section 206  
where it is said:

“The census of the population . . . shall be taken as of the first day of April, and it shall be the duty of each enumerator to commence the enumeration of his district on the day following”

The census, then, is *the list of the population taken by the enumerators during the thirty (30) days beginning April 2, 1950, and forwarded to the census supervisors before the end of that period.*

Next what is meant by the word “official” as used in referring to the census?

Webster’s New International Dictionary, Unabridged, Second Edition, defines the word in the following terms:

“Of or pertaining to an office, position or trust; connected with holding an office; as *official* duties or routine.

“Derived from the proper office or officer, or from proper authority; made or communicated by virtue of authority; authorized; authoritative; as, an *official* statement.

“Prescribed or recognized as authorized, as, an *official* ballot.”

See also:

Gunsul vs. Ray  
45 Pac. 2nd 248, 249,

decided by the California Appellate Court.

It is apparent that the word "official" as used in the statute refers to *a census taken by a public officer under authority of law*. It might be either a census taken by Federal officers or by state or city officers, so long it is authorized by law.

We come then to a consideration of the word "next", which may well be the crux of the matter when used as a modifier of the term "census" in the statute in question. The word "next" has several meanings and the meaning to be ascribed to a particular use of the term must be ascertained from the context. Webster defines it as follows:

"Nearest; having nothing similar intervening; as: *a.* adjoining in a series; immediately preceding or following in order . . .

"*b.* Following that approaching (as a season), or in progress (as a piece of work); as, I cannot go this Christmas, but I hope to go *next* (Christmas)."

The definition of the term as an adverb also sheds some light upon its ordinary meaning. Webster gives this definition:

"1. In the time, place or order nearest or immediately succeeding; as, *next we* drove home; . .

"On the first occasion to come; as, when *when* we meet."

It is apparent that in the ordinarily accepted meaning of the word "next," when used without some other qualifying term, means the next hereafter or the next succeeding. In ordinary conversation referring

to events occurring in a series the use of the word "next" to refer to the last preceding event is practically unknown. When the ordinary person speaking English says "next day" he does not mean yesterday, he means tomorrow, unless he qualifies next by saying "next preceding." "Next" used alone and without qualifiers in ordinary usage refers to the future and not to the past as indicated by the quoted definitions.

The cases in which the problem has been considered in a situation like this are in accord:

"Next" means that which comes after.

Sandy vs. Thomas

66 S. W. 2nd 449.

"Next" means subsequent.

Osborn vs. Rogers

19 N. J. Equity 429.

"Next" means nearest immediately following.

In re Park

8 Fed 2nd 544.

See also the case of

Palka vs. Walker

124 Conn. 121,

198 Atl. 265.

There, under a constitutional provision giving the governor power to grant reprieves after a criminal conviction until the end of the "next" session of the General Assembly and no longer, it was held that the word "next" did not refer to a session of the Assembly in existence when the reprieve is granted, but referred to the session which begins thereafter.



See also the case of

State ex rel. Brunjes  
vs. Bockelman.  
240 S. W. 209,

hereafter more fully discussed.

If then the Legislature had intended the census of April 1, 1950, to be the criterion for the classification of cities as to the number of city court judges, it would normally have said:

“As determined by the *last preceding* official census and each official census thereafter.”

It did not do so.

As will appear later in this brief, many legislatures have taken that natural and easy step when referring to a census taken prior to the effective date of the law and it certainly should not be presumed that the Legislature turned its back upon these precedents and used a different word without intending a different meaning.

The Legislature, if it intended the act to be immediately effective, could have said with equal ease and definiteness that the classification of the city should be “determined by the United States Decennial Census for the year 1950, and by each official census thereafter.” It did not do so. It chose to use the phrase “next official census.” It must then have intended a different meaning by the use of the different term. The Legislature knew when it sat that the census for 1950 had been completed. The fact that Ogden City, which is the only city within the population range specified,



had a population of approximately 57,000 as determined by that census was a matter of common knowledge. Official notice thereof had been given by the preliminary announcements of the District Supervisor and the Director of the Census himself issued many months before the Legislature convened. When it used the term "next" under these circumstances it could not, it is submitted, have referred to anything except a census in which the enumeration should be taken after the effective date of the law on May 8, 1951.

If the query be raised as to why the word "next" was used instead of the phrase "United States Decennial Census for 1960 and each official census thereafter," the answer is obvious: There may be other official censuses between May 8, 1951 and the decennial census of 1960. The Legislature intended that the next official census after May 8, 1951, should establish the class. The Constitution of Utah itself provides for an official state census to be taken in 1905 and and every tenth year thereafter, and although such census has not been taken in the past it is not to be presumed that it will not be taken in 1955, especially in the light of the agitation for a re-apportionment of State Senators and Representatives. It is a general rule of law that public officers will be presumed to perform their official duties.

Moreover, there may be other official censuses than the state and Federal Decennial censuses. See.

City of Compton vs. Adams  
203 Pac. 2nd 745,

decided by the Supreme Court of California in 1949.

See also section 15-8-68, U.C.A. 1943, authorizing the city itself to provide for a census.

It is submitted then that under the generally accepted meaning of the words used, the phrase "next official census" as used by the Legislature refers to an enumeration of the population taken by a public official under authority of law at a time subsequent to May 8, 1951. It does not and cannot refer to the report of the final audit of the population of Ogden issued on June 17, 1951.

Such is the decision in the only case directly in point which the plaintiff has been able to find by a prolonged and diligent search. The case is

State ex rel. Brunjes  
vs. Bockelman  
240 S. W. 209,

decided by the Missouri Court. In that case a statute passed in 1919 and approved May 27, 1919, provided that "on and after the first day of January, 1921, the prosecuting attorney shall receive for his services" certain specified sums graduated according to the population of the county in which he served. The statute further provided that:

"The number of inhabitants . . . . shall . . . be ascertained by multiplying the whole number of votes cast at the last preceding presidential election by five until after the population . . . . shall have been ascertained by the *next decennial census* of the United States."

The court first held that under the provision first above quoted the statute was effective and spoke as of January 1, 1921. The 1920 census was taken as of January 1, 1920. See

13 U. S. C. A., Sections  
21 and 42.

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