1952

Ogden City v. Clyde C. Patterson : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant sought by way of declaratory judgment in the lower court (1) that court's determination that under Chapter 26, Laws of Utah, 1951, now commonly referred to as Section 104-4-2, Utah Code Annotated, 1943, as amended, Ogden City qualifies for but one city judge, and (2) that if it be determined that under such section Ogden qualifies for two city judges, still the respondent Patterson is not lawfully a city judge of Ogden City.

The chronology of events leading up to the present litigation are as follows:

On March 8, 1951, the Legislature enacted what is now known as Chapter 26, Laws of Utah, 1951, and which we hereinafter refer to as Sections 104-4-2, 104-4-3, 104-4-3.10, 104-4-3.11, and 104-4-3.12, U.C.A. 1943, as amended. These enactments became effective May 8, 1951. So far as here pertinent they read as follows:

“104-4-2. Judges—Election of—Number of
Judges—Term and Tenure of Office.

At the municipal election to be held in the year 1951, and sexennially thereafter, city judges shall be elected by the qualified electors of their respective cities in the manner provided by this act. In cities having a population, as determined by the next official census and each official census thereafter of 50,000 and less than 100,000 there shall be two city judges; * * *.”

“104-4-3. Id. Appointment by Mayor Pending Election.

Whenever it shall appear by official census that any city has attained sufficient population to place it within the class of cities having city courts, or to raise it to a class entitled to have an additional judge or judges, the mayor of such city, with the consent of the governing body thereof, shall appoint a city judge or judges who shall be entitled to serve until twelve o'clock noon on the first Monday of January succeeding the next municipal election after said appointment or appointments are made, at which city judges are elected, and until their successors are elected and qualified.”

“104-4-3.10. Declaration of Candidacy.

* * *.

(a) * * *.

(b) * * *.

(c) * * *. If only one candidate files for any specific office, such person shall forthwith be issued a certificate of election by the city recorder. * * *.”

On July 31, 1951, and within the time allowed by law therefor, Patterson filed his declaration of candidacy, supported by the required petition of one hundred voters, for the office of Judge of the Second Division of the Ogden City Court (the office held by the then incumbent city judge being designated by the City Recorder as Judge of the First Division). No other candidates filing for Judge of the Second Division within the time allowed by law, the City Recorder, on August 7, 1952, issued to Mr. Patterson a certificate of election to this office as provided by Section 104-4-3.10, *supra*, and duly advised the governing body of Ogden City that she had done so. (Exhibit 1).

On November 6, 1951, Ogden City held its regular municipal election, and it did not submit to the voters the office of Judge of the Second Division of the City Court.

On December 4, 1951, as an "economy measure" the Ogden City Counsel decided to refuse to create the job if that was legally possible.

On December 27, 1951, the emoluments of the office of Judge of the Second Division were included by Ogden City in its budget, and the City Manager was "authorized" to take whatever steps were necessary to determine "the legality of this case" by declaratory action. (Exhibit A).

On December 31, 1951, Ogden City adopted its budget, which included the salary for the second judge. On the same day its City Recorder received for filing and filed Patterson's oath as judge of such second division.

On January 5, 1952, Mr. Thatcher, as attorney for Ogden City, filed a complaint herein, by which not only the question of the existence of the office was raised, but the second question—purely gratuitous as we view it—of Patterson's right to hold the office, assuming it does exist. Respondent will develop its views under four points of argument, as follows:

POINT I:

THE OFFICE FOR WHICH PATTERSON HOLDS A CERTIFICATE OF ELECTION AND FOR WHICH HE QUALIFIED BY TAKING THE REQUIRED OATH OF OFFICE DOES EXIST.

- (A) BECAUSE IT WAS CREATED BY THE PROVISION OF SECTION 104-4-2, and
- (B) REGARDLESS OF THE INTERPRETATION TO BE GIVEN SECTION 104-4-2 THE OFFICE HERE IN QUESTION CAME INTO BEING BY VIRTUE OF SECTION 104-4-3.

POINT II:

APPELLANT OGDEN CITY IS WITHOUT RIGHT TO RAISE THE QUESTION OF RESPONDENT'S RIGHT TO HOLD THE OFFICE BECAUSE

- (A) RESPONDENT'S RIGHT TO THE OFFICE CAN BE RAISED ONLY BY THE ATTORNEY GENERAL ON BEHALF OF THE STATE, OR BY ANOTHER CLAIMANT TO THE OFFICE; and
- (B) OGDEN CITY CANNOT ATTACK THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF THE LAW WHICH VESTED RESPONDENT WITH THE OFFICE.

POINT III:

SECTION 104-4-3.10 IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL IN ITS PROVISIONS FOR THE ISSUANCE OF A CERTIFICATE OF ELECTION TO AN UNCONTESTED CANDIDATE.

POINT IV:

GENERAL OBSERVATION ON THE PUBLIC INTEREST.

THE ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE OFFICE FOR WHICH PATTERSON HOLDS A CERTIFICATE OF ELECTION AND FOR WHICH HE QUALIFIED BY TAKING THE REQUIRED OATH OF OFFICE DOES EXIST (A) BECAUSE IT WAS CREATED BY THE PROVISION OF SECTION 104-4-2, AND (B) REGARDLESS OF THE INTERPRETATION TO BE GIVEN SECTION 104-4-2 THE OFFICE HERE IN QUESTION CAME INTO BEING BY VIRTUE OF SECTION 104-4-3.

(A) THE OFFICE WAS CREATED BY VIRTUE OF SECTION 104-4-2.

Appellant Ogden City's position with respect to this phase of the matter is summed up concisely by the allegation of its complaint (Par. 13) (a) that the office in question will not come into being

“Until it shall be determined by the official census next hereafter ensuing”

that Ogden has a population of fifty thousand. On the contrary, respondent's position is that the office was in existence on July 31, 1951, when he filed his declaration of candidacy therefor, and has been ever since.

This point of argument does not concern itself with the question of whom, if anyone, holds the office, but with the sole question of whether the office exists. The answer lies with the interpretation to be given to Chapter 26, Laws of Utah, 1951, enacted March 8, 1951, effective May 8, 1951, and particularly the two sections thereof known as 104-4-2 and 104-4-3, *supra*. Both of these sections of the statute are self-executing. As and when the conditions required by either exist the office as such comes into being without anything further required. We accordingly examine the provisions thereof in the light of the known facts to the end of determining if either have become operative insofar as Ogden City is concerned.

The pertinent language, insofar as Section 104-4-2 is concerned, is:

“In cities having a population, as determined by the next official census and each official census thereafter of 50,000 and less than 100,000, there shall be two city judges.”

Ogden City contends that the key words “next official census” mean the number of people listed on the census enumeration sheets officially taken next after the effective date of the act. Respondent contends that it means the official announcement of the

correct enumeration, which announcement occurs next after the effective date of the act, and as the official announcement of the 1950 count was not made until subsequent to the effective date of the act, that announcement here controls.

What is a census? Is it the actual count, as claimed by appellant? Or is it the official announcement as to the results of that count after duplications, omissions, mistakes and other errors have been eliminated?

Authorities probably are not in complete agreement upon the subject, but a careful reading and analysis of each case actually results in fairly complete reconciliation. A general legal definition of the meaning of the word "census" is found in 14 *C.J.S. (Census) Section 1, Page 101*:

"In general, a census must be an official enumeration of the people, and, as such, a public record, containing not merely a sum total, but an official list, of the names of all the inhabitants preserved in the public archives. . ."

And in 14 *C.J.S (Census) Section 6, Page 103*:

"In the absence of a statute requiring any formal action by the census board or the legislature, a census goes into legal effect, as such, on its compilation and publication by the census superintendent or board. It is generally held that a census, after it has been officially determined or ascertained and published does not relate back and give the fact force as of the date of which the census was to be taken; but it has also been held that a census, being the enumeration of the population and not the announcement

of the result, becomes effective as of the date taken. An authorized announcement of a federal census is official, even though not final, and expressly subject to correction.”

Cases supporting this general statement of the law include the following:

Lewis v. Lackawanna County (Pa) 50 A. 162 (1901)

The second syllabus reads:

“Under act March 31, 1876, providing for salaries of county officers in counties with more than 150,000 inhabitants, county offices do not become salaried offices immediately on the county attaining such population, *but only when such fact is legally ascertained by the census bureau making returns of the population to congress, or making final report*; and such ascertainment does not relate back, and give the fact force as of the date of which the census was to be taken.”
(Italics added)

And from the opinion:

“It is of general knowledge that the results of the census have not been promptly reached; that of 1880 not having been officially announced until 1883, and that of 1890 not until 1895. On the argument of appellee everything dependent on the census would be kept in a state of suspension, or in danger of being turned topsy-turvy, for an indefinite period. *The only escape from such intolerable inconvenience and confusion is by adherence to the logical principles of the law that the fact becomes applicable only from its legal ascertainment.*” (Italics added).

Wolfe v. City of Moorhead (Minn.) 107 N. W. 728 (1906)

The third syllabus reads:

“CENSUS—TIME OF TAKING EFFECT:

The fifth decennial census of Minnesota went into legal effect upon its compilation and publication by the superintendent of the census, and not upon the deposit of the enumeration in his hands.”

And from the opinion:

“The plaintiff argues that, inasmuch as the enumeration was required to be completed on or before the 1st day of July, and to be placed in the hands of the superintendent of the census not later than the 10th of July, therefore the election held in October was governed by statutes applicable to cities of more than 4,000 inhabitants. That enumeration did not constitute the census in law; on the contrary, it was but a step in its creation. The census went into legal effect upon its compilation and publication by the superintendent. Section 18. Until that time, the various municipal corporations of the state were governed by the laws applicable to cities of the class determined by the previous census.”

Broyles v. Mahaska County (Ia.) 239 N. W. 1 (1931)

In this case, as in the preceding one, the statute directed publication of the figures, which is what the federal law requires.

The first syllabus reads:

“Since publication of census is to be under secretary of state’s certificate, date of certificate determines when census becomes effective.”

The second syllabus reads:

“Where secretary of state did not certify 1925 census of Iowa until February 1, 1926, census did not become effective until such date.”

And from the opinion:

“It is apparent from these provisions of the Code that it was the intent of the Legislature to fix a time when said census report should become effective. Such things are matters which courts cannot determine, as they vary from time to time with the change in population, and it was the evident intent of the Legislature, as shown by the requirements in these sections, that the publication of this census was to be under the certificate of the secretary of state, which must be dated, and it must therefore follow that the date of the certificate is the day on which the census becomes effective.

“As applied to this case, the evidence shows this certificate was dated February 1, 1926. It must be held, therefore, that the new 1925 census was not effective until the last-named date, and prior to that the city of Oskaloosa had, in law, a population of less than 10,000. This is in line with the holdings in other states. As throwing light on this question, see *State v. Smith*, 149 Wash. 173, 270 P. 306; *Holcomb v. Spikes* (Tex. Civ. App.) 232 S. W. 891; *Wolfe v. City of Moorehead*, 98 Minn. 113, 197 N. W. 728; *State v. Brooks*, 58 Wash. 648, 109 P. 211.”

Also we refer to the following:

Holcomb v. Spike (Tex.) 232 S. W. 891:

“A census must be an official enumeration of the people, and as such a public record containing not merely a sum total, but an official list of the names of all inhabitants . . .”

State v. Wooten (Mo.) 122 S. W. 1101:

“A census of a city is an official enumeration of the inhabitants with details of sex, age and family. It is a public document to be preserved in the archives of the city, rather than a mere sum total of the inhabitants.”

City of Hungington v. Cast (Ind.) 48 N. W. 1045:

“A census is not merely a sum total, but an official list containing the names of all the inhabitants.”

The above three cases and the excerpts therefrom are cited and quoted by appellant as support for its position that it is the actual count that is important, but the language imports the contrary. They say that the census is the “official list” which obviously is not the tally of the enumerators, but rather a document prepared therefrom and reflecting the correction of all errors and mistakes made by the enumerators.

Applying this to our own situation. There is a discrepancy of 204 between the first preliminary announcement of 56,908 (R. 030-031) and the final listing of 57,112 (R. 014, Exhibit B). Obviously, the official census is the final corrected list of 57,112 as announced by the Director on June 17, 1951, and not the actual count made by the enumerators during April, 1950, which

patently was erroneous, or the equally erroneous preliminary announcement of 56,908 made on June 14, 1950, or of 56,910 made on August 25, 1950.

Further reference should perhaps be here made to the case of *Lewis v. Lackawanna*, *supra*, and quoted from by appellant at page 11 of its brief as follows:

“The census is the enumeration of the population, not the announcement of the results.”

We have carefully examined this case as it appears in 50 Atlantic 162, and find no such statement as that therein. On the contrary the case holds that it is the *final report of the census bureau which controls*, and which report does not relate back to the date of actual taking.

We do come, however, to a group of cases holding that preliminary announcements have their place in the overall scheme, and may be used as “*guideposts*” for official action. Cases of this type are

State v. Ryan (Mo.) 133 S. W. 8 (1910)

Ervine v. State (Tex.) 44 S. W. (2) 380 (1931)

Herdon v. Garfield County (Okla.) 295 P. 223 (1931)

Childers v. Dewall, 62 S. W. 802 (Ark.)

Elliot v. State (Okla.) 1 P. 2d 370 (1931)

Gross v. Ross (Ky.) 185 S. W. 2d 547 (1945)

Washita County v. Lowden (Okla.) 116 P. 2d 700 (1941)

Forde v. Owens (S. C.) 158 S. E. 157 (1931)

These cases are all to the effect that the preliminary report may be used as a guide in determining a status. In other words, the preliminary report may be relied upon until the final report is made.

Examples of this type of case are:

Ervin v. State (Tex) 1931. Page 1 of the syllabus states:

“Preliminary announcement of census showing city over 20,000 should have been guide of officials concerning mode of drawing jury (Vernon’s Ann. Civ. St. art. 2094; 13 U.S.C.A. Sections 4, 205, 213, and 210 et seq.).”

Washita County v. Lowden (Okla.) 1941.

“1. CENSUS

In determining classification into which county should be placed for county officers’ salary purpose, a census bulletin officially issued, though a preliminary report, was a guide for official action with respect to population.”

These cases are of little actual value in the determination of what is a census, because that question was not there involved. The inference to be gathered therefrom, however, is that if the preliminary announcements are but guideposts, they are guideposts to the census, which of necessity must be the final official announcement.

There are a group of cases, however, which may appear at first blush to support appellant’s position that the effective date of the census was the date as of which it was taken, rather than the subsequent official announcement. These cases are

Underwood v. Hickman (Tenn) 39 S. W. 2d 1034

Twin Falls v. Koehler (Ida) 123 P. 2d 715

Jordan v. DeHart (Wash.) 131 P. 2d 156.

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